
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Joint 
Transportation 

Board 
 

Councillor B Garden (Chairman) 
Mrs P Cole 

Mr P Harman 
Mrs K J Grehan 
Mr J Kite MBE 

Mr J Ozog 
Mr  A S Sandhu, MBE 

 
Councillor S P Butterfill 
Councillor S N Gosine 

Councillor Mrs J A Ozog 
Councillor R J Wells 

 
Parish representatives –  Yvonne Seymour and Stephanie 

Thredgle 

 
A meeting of the above Board will be held on 

 
Tuesday 8 March 2022 

 
at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford 

 
Chief Officer and Director of Corporate Services 

28 February 2022 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 
 



 
JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD  

AGENDA 
 

Tuesday 8 March 2022 
 
  
1. Apologies for Absence.   

 
 
2. Declarations of Interest   

 
 To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 

terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any). 
 

 

 
3. To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Dartford Joint 

Transportation Board held on 7 December 2021.  
(Pages 1 - 6) 

 
 
4. Urgent Items   

 
 The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 

urgent items and their position on the agenda. 
 

 

 
5. References from other Committees (if any)   

 
 
6. Chairman's Update   

 
 
7. Matters Arising  (Pages 7 - 14) 

KCC 
 This report advises Members on the progress of matters arising at 

previous meetings of the Board, and on issues identified for future 
consideration. 
 

 

 
8. Fastrack   

 
 Mr Hymers will report on issues surrounding Fastrack. 

 
 

 
9. Arriva Buses: Performance of Route 414   

 
 The Chairman will report on this matter. 

 
 

 
10. Members Enquiry Items   

 
 Members have the opportunity to raise  the following: - 

  
         Questions in relation to capital and revenue funded works 

 



programmes 
         Suggestions for future traffic regulation orders or street 

management proposals 
         Questions on policies, plans and strategies related to 

highways, road traffic and public transport. 
         Suggestion of a future agenda item (subject to the Chairman’s 

approval) 
  
 

ITEMS FOR INFORMATION 
 
11. Prioritising the Investigation of Reported Parking Issues and 

Parking Management Schemes - Pilot Study,  Bow Arrow Lane.  
(Pages 15 - 

20) 
 

 
12. Minor Traffic Regulation Orders Progressed  by Officers under 

Delegated Authority  
(Pages 21 - 

22) 
 

 
13. Lower Thames Crossing - Update   

 
 Mr Agboola will update Members verbally on this matter. 

 
 

 
14. KCC - Environment, Highways and Waste  (Pages 23 - 

44) 
 

 For Members information the following have been attached for 
Members information: - 
 
Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee – Minutes 8 
September 2021 and 3 November 2021. 

  
  
NB: If a Member wishes to discuss any of these items at the meeting, 
please advise the Member Services Section (01322) 343251 prior to 
the meeting. 
 

 



1 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Joint Transportation Board held on Tuesday 7 
December 2021 at 7.00 pm 
 

 
PRESENT: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Also 
Present 
 

Councillor B Garden (Chairman) 
Mrs P Cole 
Ms K J Grehan 
Mr Peter Harman 
Mr J Kite MBE 
Mr J Ozog 
 
Councillor S N Gosine 
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog 
Councillor L J Reynolds 
Councillor R J Wells 
 
 
Mr. D Brazier (Kent County Council) Mr Lukman Agboola and Mr 
Martin Smith (Dartford Borough Council).  Mr Andrew Patrick and 
Mr Alex Hills  (Dartford and Gravesham Cycling Forum) 
 

 
45. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE.  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Butterfill and Mr Kevin 
Gore. 
 
The Chairman welcomed Mr David Brazier, the Kent County Council Cabinet 
Member with responsibility for Highways and Transport, to the meeting. 
 
Mr Brazier was attending our meeting, and others across Kent, as an 
observer.   
 

46. COUNCILLOR ANN ALLEN MBE  
 
Councillor Garden reminded Members of the recent death of the Vice 
Chairman of the Joint Transportation Board, Councillor Ann Allen MBE. 
 
Councillor Allen, in her capacity as a County Councillor, had served on the 
JTB for a considerable period and as Chairman on a number of occasions. 
 
She was recognised as being an excellent ward Councillor and warm 
personality as well as being a particular advocate for the elderly and children.  
 
Members, Officers and attendees stood and observed a minute’s silence in 
her memory.  
 

47. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
 

TUESDAY 7 DECEMBER 2021 
 
 

2 

There were no declarations of interest received. 
 

48. TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE DARTFORD 
JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD HELD ON 7 SEPTEMBER 2021  
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Joint Transportation Board held on 7 
September 2021 be confirmed as a correct record. 
 

49. URGENT ITEMS  
 
The Chairman reported that there were no urgent matters for the Board to 
discuss. 
 

50. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY)  
 
It was reported that there were no matters referred to the Board for 
consideration. 
 

51. MATTERS ARISING  
 
The Board received a report on matters which were outstanding from previous 
meetings and which set out the schedule of work for future meetings. 
 
It was noted that, following consultation with Members, a number of issues 
had been removed from the report as these had been addressed.  However, 
information which had been requested on a number of other matters had still 
not been provided by the relevant Kent County Council (KCC) Officer, and the 
Clerk was asked to pursue these matters further.  
 
Following a last minute COVID related decision taken by KCC that Officers 
should not attend face to face meetings the KCC Officer responsible for 
Fastrack was not in attendance at the Board this evening and that reports on 
a number of matters were thus not available for the Board. 
 

52. DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM CYCLING FORUM  
 
The Chairman introduced Mr. Andrew Patrick and his colleague Mr. Alex Hills 
from the Dartford and Gravesend Cycling Forum, who had requested an 
opportunity to address the Board on a number of cycling related issues. 
 
Mr. Hills firstly informed the Board of the physical and mental benefits of 
cycling both as a means of transport and a leisure activity.  He spoke about 
the Central Government commitment to supporting cycling and went some 
way to explain processes related to obtaining funding for cycle routes. 
 
Mr. Andrew further informed the Board of the provisions of LTN120, a policy 
document introduced by Central government, and the way in which it provide 
funding opportunities for the introduction of cycle paths and similar schemes. 
 

Page 2Agenda Item 3



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
 

TUESDAY 7 DECEMBER 2021 
 
 

3 

He explained that the gateway to such funding was by the development of a 
Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) and sought a 
commitment from the Board to ask Officers to develop such a plan. 
 
Mr. Agboola responded that Officers within his department had already 
commenced work on this and had secured funding for an Active Travel Officer 
who he felt sure would be happy to liaise with the Forum. 
 
The Chairman thanked the Forum Members for their presentation.  
 
    
 

53. DARTFORD PARKING SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT 2021.  
 
Mr Martin Smith, the Dartford Borough Council Parking Manager, introduced 
the Annual report on the Civil Enforcement and Parking Service for 2020 – 
2021. 
 
The Report which detailed the full range of services and actions of the Service 
for 2020 – 2021, was intended to be an informative and helpful document 
which sets out the Council’s approach to parking management and provide 
information on parking provision, as well as statistical and other relevant and 
comparative data. 
 
Arising from consideration of the report Members asked for the inclusion, in 
future Annual Reports, of more detailed statistics relating to the numbers and 
location of Penalty Charge Notice issue. 
 
Mr. Smith informed the Board that he was more than willing to respond to 
individual Member enquiries but could not include more closely focused 
statistics in the Annual Report. 
 
It was also stressed that the purpose of parking enforcement was not income 
generation but to ensure that motorists were deterred from unsafe and 
thoughtless parking.  
 
Board Members broadly welcomed the report and were particularly pleased to 
note the successes achieved in deterring dangerous parking by the siting of 
mobile CCTV adjacent to some schools. 
 
The Board therefore RESOLVED to Commend the Annual Report to the 
Council and for publication. 
 
 
 
 
 

54. FASTRACK  
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
 

TUESDAY 7 DECEMBER 2021 
 
 

4 

In the absence of Mr Hymers, the KCC Fastrack manager, the Chairman gave 
a brief update on the following matters: 
 

 Fastrack Performance/Reliability Statistics 

 The new Amazon Service 

 Misuse of Busways and the future introduction of ANPR 

 Bluewater Tunnel 
 

55. MINOR TRAFFIC SCHEMES  
 
Mr Agboola presented a report which listed locations within Dartford which 
had been identified as requiring the introduction of Traffic Regulation Orders 
(TRO), which were to be progressed by Officers under delegated authority. 
 
It was noted that the process was subject to standard statutory consultation 
and engagement with local Members before implementation. 
 
Arising from the report Mr Ozog requested that further investigation be 
undertaken relating to Item 2 – Nelson Road, as he was aware that some 
issues existed with this disabled persons’ parking space. 
 
Mr Agboola undertook to look into this and report to Members on this matter. 
 

56. LOWER THAMES CROSSING  
 
Mr Agboola gave a brief update on the progress of the preparations for the 
planning application for the proposed new Lower Thames Crossing.   
 
It was noted that the fourth Non Statutory consultation on the proposals had 
now been completed and that considerable challenges to the details of the 
crossing are still apparent. 
 
It is proposed that proposals for the crossing will be presented to the Planning 
Inspectorate in 2022.  
 

57. A282 / M25 COLLABORATION BETWEEN DBC, KCC HIGHWAYS AND 
NATIONAL HIGHWAYS  
 
Mr Agboola reported briefly on the work being undertaken to alleviate traffic 
issues on the M25 / A 282 and surrounding areas arising from collaboration 
between DBC, KCC Highways and National Highways. 
 
He explained that a consultant had undertaken an analysis of the issues and 
previous schemes and works to address problems, and was to present 
proposals on a way forward for Member consideration in the New Year. 
 

58. MEMBERS ENQUIRY ITEMS  
 
Members raised the following points: 

Page 4Agenda Item 3



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
 

TUESDAY 7 DECEMBER 2021 
 
 

5 

 
Mrs Grehan asked that her concern be recorded at the delay in undertaking a 
safety assessment following a fatal road accident in her Ward. 
 
Mr Ozog requested guidance on a request from the public to commence the 
maintenance of street planters which were not currently being kept in good 
order by KCC.   
 

59. KCC - ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT CABINET COMMITTEE  
 
The Board received and noted the Minutes of the meetings of the Kent County 
Council Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee held on 29 June and 
8 September 2021. 
 

60. MR DAVID BRAZIER  
 
With the permission of the Chairman, Mr Brazier addressed the Board.   
He expressed concern at the absence of KCC Officers at our meetings and 
undertook to address this matter as soon as he was able. 
 
The Chairman thanked Mr Brazier for his concern and assurance. 
 
(Post meeting note: as mentioned above this absence was due to a last 
minute decision taken by KCC)  
 
 

 
The meeting closed at 8.51 pm 

 
 Councillor Brian Garden 

 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 
 
 
 

Page 5 Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6Agenda Item 3



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
8 March 2022

 
MATTERS ARISING 

 
1. Summary 

 
 

1.1 This report advises Members on the progress of matters arising at previous 
 meetings of the Board. 

  
2.  RECOMMENDATION 

 
2.1  That Members note the comments in the “Update/Outcome” column of the 

Appendix A to this report 
 
 
 
3 Background and Discussion 
 
3.1 Previously, the Joint Transportation Board requested that a report on 

matters arising be placed on future agendas of this Board. 
 
3.2 The matters arising are as detailed in the Appendix A to this report. 
 
3.3 A verbal update, where applicable, will be given at the meeting of this 

Board. 
 

4    Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
Not applicable 
 

5. Appendices 
 
Appendix A:  Matters Arising 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS: 
 
None  
 
Contact Officers :  As detailed in the Appendix to this report                       

Contact Number: 

 
KCC Highways & Transportation      08458 247 800 
 
Dartford Borough Council  01322 343251 
 

 

Page 7 Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Dartford Joint Transportation Board   
 

Tuesday 8 March 2022 
 

 Topic Action/Issue Request Update Responsible Due 
Date 

1.  Fastrack – Performance 
levels 

Update since last report. 
 
 

Standing 
Item 

 Shane Hymers Mar 22 

2.  14. Fastrack – Future 
Developments 

Update on Route AZ. 
Update on new contract. 

Standing 
Item 

  Shane Hymers Mar 22  

3.  15. Fastrack – 
Concessionary Fares for 
Bridge Residents 

Update on Proposals Standing 
Item 

 Shane Hymers Mar 22 

4.  16. Fastrack Update on Zero Emission Fleet Standing 
Item 

 Shane Hymers Mar 22 

5.  17. Misuse of Busways by 
Motorists 

Update on installation of ANPR 
Cameras, the monitoring system 
and statistics on penalties issued. 
 

Standing 
Item 

 
 

Shane Hymers Mar 22 

6.  18. Bluewater Tunnel Update on progress Standing 
Item 

 Shane Hymers Mar 22 

7.  19. Highway Improvements 
at junctions 1a, 1b and 2 

Update on completed and future 
works 
 

Standing 
Item 

Last report to September 
21 Meeting 

National Highways Jun 22  

8.  20. A282 / M25 
COLLABORATION 
BETWEEN DBC, KCC 
HIGHWAYS AND 
NATIONAL HIGHWAYS 

Outcomes of Collaboration 
working meetings  

Standing 
Item 

 Lukman Agboola Mar 22 

9.  21. Highway Improvements 
at Bean Intersection 

Update on ongoing works Standing 
Item 

 National Highways June 
22 

10.  22. Lower Thames Crossing Update on current consultation Standing 
Item 

Mr Agboola updated 
Board December 21 

Lukman Agboola Mar 22 

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 7



Dartford Joint Transportation Board   
 

Tuesday 8 March 2022 
 

 Topic Action/Issue Request Update Responsible Due 
Date 

11.  23. Traffic Management Act 
2004 Part 2  Civil 
Enforcement of Traffic 
Contraventions 

Update  BG  KCC Mar 22 

12.  24. Parking Issues at Abbey 
Drive, Highfield Rd and 
Phoenix Place 

Assessments made by PTP staff   Lukman Agboola Mar 22 

13.  25. Increased Pavement 
Provision for A225 
Dartford Road at Sutton 
at Hone and Hawley 

Update on requested costed 
proposal. 
Update on proposed works 

  KCC officer 
KCC member 

Sep 21 

14.  26. Drainage Dartford Road Update on jetting of blocked 
drains 

MD  KCC Officer Sep 21 

15.  27. Work being undertaken 
to Central Road Dartford 

Details of any proposed road 
works or TRO. 
 

RW  KCC Officer Sep 21 

16.  Parking Management 
Prioritisation Scheme 

Update on current list Standing 
Item 

Mr Agboola updated 
Board December 21 

Lukman Agboola 
 

Mar 22 

17.  Kent Rural Bus Study 
and Routes 428 / 492 

Update on any implication to 
Dartford Routes 

KG  KCC Transport Officer Jun 22 

18.  National Bus Strategy  BG  KCC Transport Officer Jun 22 

19.  Arriva Performance 
Route 414 

Latest Performance statistics LR  Lukman Agboola Mar 22 

20.  Priory Road South 
Flooding Gutter 

Conflict between Thames Water 
and KCC Highways. 

Cllr 
Matthew 

Davis 

 KCC Officer Mar 22 

P
age 10

A
genda Item

 7



Dartford Joint Transportation Board   
 

Tuesday 8 March 2022 
 

 Topic Action/Issue Request Update Responsible Due 
Date 

21.  Heather Lane Speed 
Restrictions 

   KCC officer Mar 22 

22.  Double Yellows Priory 
Close 

   Lukman Agboola Mar 22 

23.  Area with split resident 
parking schemes 

   Lukman Agboola Mar 22 

24.  Disabled Parking space 
2 Nelson Road 

Possible removal of parking space Mr Ozog  KCC Officer Mar 22 

25.   Maintenance of Street 
Planters 

An offer to maintain these by 
member of public 

Mr Ozog  KCC Officer Mar 22 

26.  Safety Assessment 
following fatal Road 
Accident 

 Ms Grehan  KCC Roads Officer Mar 22 

27.  Enforcement Cameras 
Blue Star Roundabout 

Update on KCC assuming 
responsibility for enforcement 
action  

DM  KCC Transport Officer  Mar 22 

28.  Active Travel Officer Update on start date of this new 
appointment and contact details 

BG  Lukman Agboola Mar 22 

29.  Local Cycling and 
Walking Infrastructure 
Plan 

Progress Update BG  Lukman Agboola Mar 22 

30.  Parking Services Annual 
Report 

Numbers of PCN by Location Standing 
Item 

 Parking Enforcement 2023 

31 Hanau Bridge bus 
shelter - Street Lighting 

Update on KCC Issue 621700 BG    

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 7



Dartford Joint Transportation Board   
 

Tuesday 8 March 2022 
 

 Topic Action/Issue Request Update Responsible Due 
Date 

 Closed Items   Issues removed from the Report since the last meeting:   

 Enforcement Cameras 
Blue Star Roundabout 

 Cllr. Mote National Highways have 
reported that there is now 
a written agreement in 
place with Kent Police 
and that they have 
operated the yellow box 
enforcement system and 
have issued a number of 
fixed penalty notices 
(FPN) with regards to the 
infringements that were 
captured.   
 
National Highways have 
confirmed that they 
continue to have remote 
access to the system in 
order to operate and 
monitor the situation. 
 
 

  

 28. Traffic Management at 
Dartford Crossing 

Update on last 6 month volumes.  
Update on number of closures 
and reasons. 
Possible permanent 60mph 
maximum speed.  

 A report was submitted to 
September Meeting. 
 
There were no plans to 
introduce 60mph speed 
limit. 

  

 29. CCTV monitoring of 
Parking at Schools 

  Parking Manager 
reported to December 

  

P
age 12

A
genda Item

 7



Dartford Joint Transportation Board   
 

Tuesday 8 March 2022 
 

 Topic Action/Issue Request Update Responsible Due 
Date 

meeting as part of Annual 
Report. 

 30. Local Residents 
discount Scheme 

Communication to residents when 
account is less than minimum 
amount for automatic 
renewal/refund. 

 A guidance document 
from the Crossing 
operator was presented 
to the September 
meeting.   

  

 Parking Enforcement 
Shepherds Lane Dartford 

  Parking Manager 
reported to December 
meeting as part of Annual 
Report. 

DBC Enforcement   

       

       

       

       

       

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 14



                              
JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 

08 MARCH 2022 
 

PRIORITISING THE INVESTIGATION OF REPORTED PARKING 
ISSUES AND PARKING MANAGEMENT SCHEMES – OUTCOME 
OF PILOT STUDY IN BOW ARROW LANE, STONE WARD 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report outlines the results of the pilot study in Bow Arrow Lane using the 

adopted ‘Prioritising the investigation and implementation of Parking Management 
Schemes – Guidance’, which is used for prioritising reported parking issues in the 
Borough for investigation and development of parking schemes to address identified 
problems. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 That the results of the pilot study in Bow Arrow Lane, as outlined in the body of 

the report, be noted. 
 
2.2 That the proposals to progress Traffic Regulation Orders to implement double 

yellow lines at junctions in the Bow Arrow Lane area, as set out in paragraph 3.11 
of the report, be noted.  

 
 

3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. In September 2020 [Min.No:146], following consideration by the Board, 
Cabinet approved the adoption of a new parking management guidance 
(Prioritising the investigation and implementation of Parking 
Management Schemes – Guidance) (the Guidance) to support the 
Council’s process for prioritising reported parking issues in the borough. 
 

3.2. In March 2021, officers reported to the Board on the outcome of the pilot 
study on the use of the Guidance  in St John’s Road.  A further pilot study 
in Bow Arrow Lane, took place between September and December 
2021. As with the previous pilot study in St John’s Road, a working group 
was formed involving local ward councillors, a local resident 
representative and Council officers to manage the progress of the study 
and engagement with local residents. 

3.3. Following a meeting of the working group in September 2021 where local 
ward councillors had highlighted ongoing complaints about parking 
issues from local residents, it was agreed to carry out an informal 
consultation to gauge the views of the residents on parking issues in 
their area, whether they would support a parking scheme within their 
road and what type of parking scheme they would be in favour of. The 
questionnaire used to undertake the consultation was based on those 
set out in the Guidance. The consultation area is outlined in yellow on 
the image at Appendix A to this report.  

Page 15 Agenda Item 11



                              
JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 

08 MARCH 2022 
 
Outcome of Consultation 

3.4. In September 2021, a letter and questionnaire was hand delivered by 
the local ward councillor to 1347 residents detailing the aims of the 
consultation and asking for feedback on their parking concerns and what 
type of scheme they would be in favour of. There was the option to 
submit the completed questionnaire by post or via an online survey 
service. 

3.5. The consultation started on the 17th September 2021, lasting a period of 
four weeks. At the end of the consultation period the Council received a 
total of 86 responses. This represents a response rate of 6.4%.  A 
response rate of less than 10% is considered unrepresentative to 
adequately reflect the majority view of local residents given the area 
covered by the consultation.  

3.6. However, officers analysed all the responses received and identified that 
the majority of the responses indicated no preference for a parking 
scheme but a preference for double yellow lines in locations where sight 
lines were being obscured. There were issues of road safety identified 
around Littlebrook Hospital and The Oaks which is used as a cut through 
to The Gateway Primary School.  

3.7. On the 26th November 2021, a further meeting of the working group took 
place on site (Bow Arrow Lane)  to discuss the consultation results and 
the suggestions for double yellow lines to be installed at the junctions of 
the following roads within Bow Arrow Lane; 

• Laurence Rise 
• Malt Kiln Place  
• The Oaks  
• Osbourne Road  

3.8. Officers also investigated concerns around Littlebrook Hospital and 
carried out a site review. At the time of the site check it was noted that 
not many vehicles were parked in Bow Arrow Lane, only outside of the 
hospital. From further investigation, it was established that staff 
members could park within the hospital car park for free, with a permit. 
Visitors to the hospital can obtain a permit to park from reception. It was 
noted that the majority of the vehicles seen parked within Bow Arrow 
Lane were located outside of the hospital, although, it could not be 
verified if the vehicles belonged to residents or hospital staff or visitors.  

3.9. Observations on site showed that parking is occurring close to junctions 
especially at The Oaks. This was later confirmed on a separate site visit 
by Council officers in November 2021 at 8.30am to take account of the 
impact of school opening times. It was observed that vehicles were 
parking at the junction of The Oakes and Bow Arrow Lane. It appeared 
that parents were parking at the junction of The Oaks and Bow Arrow 
Lane to walk the short distance within the estate to drop their children off 
at school. The junction was congested with parked vehicles and the sight 

Page 16Agenda Item 11



                              
JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 

08 MARCH 2022 
 

lines of vehicles exiting the side roads and that of pedestrians were 
obscured. . 

3.10. The working group agreed that due to the low response rate from 
residents and the feedback that was received, no further action will be 
taken in terms of  a wider parking scheme. It was decided to progress 
with the consultation and implementation of double yellow lines only at 
the junctions of; Laurence Rise, Malt Kiln Place, The Oaks and 
Osbourne Road.  

Recommendations 

3.11 The working group, which included the Cabinet Portfolio Holder, 
considered that (due to the low response rate and the comments made 
by residents who completed the questionnaire) a wider, more developed 
scheme was not required for the Bow Arrow Lane area. However to 
address the safety concerns around the junctions, officers have 
delegated authority, under the Scheme of Delegations to Officers, to 
initiate the legal process to install double yellow lines as corner 
protections under at the following locations;  

• Laurence Rise junction of Bow Arrow Lane- 30m double yellow 
line on each side of the junction  

• Malt Kiln Place junction of Bow Arrow Lane  -30m double yellow 
line on each side of the junction  

• The Oaks junction with Bow Arrow Lane – 30m double yellow line 
on each side of the junction.  

• Osbourne Road 30m double yellow line on one side of the road 
as there are existing double yellow lines on the western kerb line.  

 This will be progressed as part of Minor Parking Schemes (presented 
elsewhere on the agenda).   

 
3.12 Wilks Road junction of Bow Arrow Lane has not been considered for this 

scheme as this is not an open junction.  
 

3.13 Based on the lessons learnt from the pilot studies for St John’s Road and 
Bow Arrow Lane, officers will continue to use the Council’s adopted 
Guidance for prioritising reported parking issues in the Borough for 
investigation and development of parking schemes to address identified 
problems. 

4 Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
4.1 ET4 – Ensure a high quality street scene. 
 
5 Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments* 
 
Financial Implications The cost of the traffic order and associated 

costs for the lining contractors to implement the 
yellow lines: funded by existing parking budget. 

Page 17 Agenda Item 11



                              
JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 

08 MARCH 2022 
 
Legal Implications Traffic Regulation Orders to be consulted and 

advertised  
Staffing Implications None. 
Administrative 
Implications 

None. 

Risk Assessment None 
 
 
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Plan of the consultation area 
 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents consulted Date / 

File Ref 
Report Author Section and 

Directorate 
Exempt 

Informatio
n 

Category 
 

 xxxxx Full name: 
Sarah Rogers 
Transport Engineer 
(01322) 343216 

Planning 
Services, 
Community 
and Growth 

N/A 

 

Page 18Agenda Item 11



PRIORITISING THE INVESTIGATION OF REPORTED PARKING ISSUES 
AND PARKING MANAGEMENT SCHEMES – OUTCOME OF PILOT 
STUDY IN BOW ARROW LANE, STONE WARD 

 

Appendix A – Bow Arrow Lane, Dartford:  

Consultation Area = yellow line 

Page 19 Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 

8th MARCH 2022 

FOR INFORMATION: MINOR SCHEMES LIST – VARIOUS LOCATIONS  
Locations with identified Traffic Regulation Order schemes to be progressed under the Scheme of Delegations to Officers. 

Location ID Location  Identified Issues Raised by/Original 
complaint 

Proposal Length of 
Restriction 

1 Brickfield Farm Drive, 
Longfield and New Barn 

Inconsiderate parking at 
junction, narrowing the 
lane down to one vehicle  

Local resident via 
Kent County Council 
and parking services  

Provide 20 metres 
of double yellow 
lines as corner 
protection on both 
sides on the road  

20 metres of 
double yellow 
lines, 

2 The Oaks junction with 
Bow Arrow Lane, Stone 
House  

Vehicle’s parking at the 
junction obscuring 
sightlines  

Ward Councillors, 
residents and 
Portfolio Holder  

Provide 20 metres 
of double yellow 
line on both arms 
of the junction  

20 metres of 
double yellow line 

3 Osbourne Road junction 
with Bow Arrow Lane, 
Stone House  

Vehicles parking on the 
junction obstructing traffic  

Ward Councillors, 
residents  and 
Portfolio Holder  

20 metres of 
double yellow line 
on the arm of the 
junction that is 
unrestricted  

20 metres of 
double yellow line 

4 Laurence Rise junction 
with Bow Arrow Lane , 
Stone House 

Vehicles parking on the 
junction obscuring 
sightlines and narrowing 
the carriageway on Bow 
Arrow Lane, due to 
parking on both sides of 
the road.  

Ward Councillors, 
residents and 
Portfolio Holder 

20 metres of 
double yellow line 
on both arms of 
the junction  

20 metres of 
double yellow line 

5 Bulls Head Yard  Vehicle parking in 
unrestricted area, blocking 
vehicle access for the 
shop and the pedestrian 
walkway.  

Parking Services  To extend the 
existing restricted 
zone within 
Suffolk Road to 

No yellow lines 
required 2 signs 
to be installed.  

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 12



Location ID Location  Identified Issues Raised by/Original 
complaint 

Proposal Length of 
Restriction 

include Bulls 
Head Yard  

 

 

P
age 22

A
genda Item

 12



Kent County Council – Environment and 
Transport Cabinet Committee 

Page 23 Agenda Item 14



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



1 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT CABINET COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee held 
Online on Wednesday, 8 September 2021. 
 
PRESENT: Mr S Holden (Chairman), Mr R C Love, OBE (Vice-Chairman), Mr Baker, 
Mr M Baldock, Mr C Beart, Mr T Bond, Mr N J Collor, Mr D Crow-Brown, 
Ms M Dawkins, Mr M Dendor, Mr A R Hills, Mr B H Lewis, Mrs L Parfitt-Reid, 
Mr R G Streatfeild, MBE and Mr D Watkins 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mr D L Brazier (Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport) and 
Miss S J Carey (Cabinet Member for Environment) 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr S Jones (Corporate Director for Growth, Environment and 
Transport), Mrs S Holt-Castle (Director of Growth and Communities) and 
Mr M Dentten (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 

Mr Love took the chair for items 1 to 8 because the chairman, Mr Holden, was unable 
to connect to the Teams meeting until Item 9 when he took over the chair. 
 
17. Declarations of Interest by Members in items on the Agenda  
(Item 3) 
 
No declarations were made. 
 
18. Minutes of the meeting held on 29 June 2021  
(Item 4) 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 29 June 2021 were an accurate 
record and that they be signed by the Chairman. 
 
19. Verbal Updates by Cabinet Members and Corporate Director  
(Item 5) 
 

1. Miss Carey began her verbal update by confirming the permanent 

appointment of Simon Jones as Corporate Director of Growth, Environment 

and Transport. She thanked members for their involvement in the mineral, 

waste and heritage member sub-groups. She confirmed that KCC had been 

shortlisted, as one of only 10 councils, for the Local Government Chronicle’s 

Climate Response award. Miss Carey reminded members that briefings on 

environment and waste had continued. She confirmed that in excess of 7,000 

responses had been received for the Household Waste Recycling Centre 

future of the booking system public consultation.  

 

2. Mr Brazier gave his verbal update. In relation to highways asset management, 

he confirmed that poor weather had significantly impacted the demand on 

Page 25 Agenda Item 14



 

2 

drainage and soft landscaping teams, whilst resurfacing continued for the 

remainder of the financial year. He informed members that services across 

Highways were recruiting, challenges caused by skills or applicant shortages 

were noted. Concerning traffic signal maintenance, he confirmed that 

£500,000 had been received from the Department for Transport, to address a 

backlog of life expired equipment. Regarding tranche 3 of the Active Travel 

Fund, he confirmed that work on forthcoming schemes continued, with local 

member consultation. Members were informed that Kent’s Vision Zero road 

safety strategy would be launched on 15 September at Manston Airport. On 

the Kent Bus Service Improvement Plan, he explained that tight deadlines set 

by the Department for Transport had influenced the window for public 

consultation and the executive decision, which would be taken before the next 

committee meeting. In relation to Public Transport’s role in the Reconnect 

Programme, he stated that the public response to the free bus pass element 

had been overwhelmingly positive.  

 

3. Mr Jones addressed senior officer recruitment in his update. He confirmed that 

the recruitment of an Interim Director of Transport and Director of Environment 

and Waste was in progress. 

RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted. 
 
20. 21/00073 - Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 - 5 Year Review of 
2016 adopted Plan  
(Item 6) 
 
Sharon Thompson (Head of Planning Applications Group) was in attendance for this 
item. 
 

1. Miss Carey introduced the proposed decision, confirmed that the review of the 

plan was required under the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 and 

the National Planning Policy for Waste 2014, and highlighted the planned 

updates. She acknowledged that the plan had to be thorough and protect 

Kent’s natural resources.    

 

2. Mrs Thompson gave a technical overview of the review. She noted that whilst 

the policy was adopted in 2016, it was important that the plan reflected Kent’s 

position in 2021, whilst also incorporating changes in low carbon and waste 

policy. She stressed that the review did not propose any changes to Kent’s 

core minerals policy and drew members attention to the policy conformity RAG 

rating outlined in the report.  

 

3. Mrs Thompson informed members that the Kent Minerals and Waste Local 

Plan 2013-30 would return to the committee prior to a decision allowing a 

public consultation on the proposed policy updates. 

 

4. Mr Baldock asked how the policy had been received by district councils and 

what impact the feedback had on the final policy. Mrs Thompson confirmed 

that the policy balanced housing and mineral needs, the good performance of 

safeguards was highlighted. 

Page 26Agenda Item 14



 

3 

 

5. Mr Bond asked how the safeguarding of wharfs and jetties had been reviewed. 

Mrs Thompson confirmed that functional jetties were safeguarded to protect 

the safe import and export of goods. She agreed to look at wharf and jetty 

useability further, though noted national policy constraints. 

 

6. Ms Dawkins requested that the documentation included in the public 

consultation be presented simply. Mrs Thompson highlighted the executive 

summary as an accessible overview and confirmed that national policies set 

out requirements.   

RESOLVED to endorse the proposed decision of the Cabinet Member responsible for 
the Minerals and Waste Local Plan to give approval to the five-year review of the 
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 for publication. 
 
21. Approach to monitoring Net Zero Target  
(Item 7) 
 
Christine Wissink (Interim Head of Sustainable Business and Communities) was in 
attendance for this item. 

 
1. Miss Carey introduced the report and advised that KCC had monitored its 

carbon emission since 2005, with targets set every 5 years, which had led to a 

73% reduction in emissions. She noted that quarterly key performance 

indicators were used to track regular progress and a wider range of 

greenhouse gas emissions would be included in future targets, in line with 

Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy standards. Members 

were reminded of the £20.6m funding received from the Public Sector 

Decarbonisation Scheme, Miss Carey remarked that a further 40% reduction 

in carbon emissions was expected as a consequence of the resulting projects. 

 

2. Mrs Wissink gave a technical overview of the approach to monitoring KCC’s 

net zero target, this included details on measurement and standards. The 

extent of the data sets, which covered among other areas, KCC’s and its 

trading companies’ buildings. 

 

3. Mrs Wissink confirmed, following a question from Mr Watkins, that office waste 

included general waste produced by KCC’s offices and paper waste. She 

recognised that recording of this waste type had improved over the last 2 

years. 

 

4. Mr Watkins asked, in relation to Scope 3 emissions, whether commissioned 

service providers would be asked to submit a record of their service-related 

carbon emissions. Mrs Wissink confirmed that work had been undertaken with 

Commissioning to explore the viability of recording service providers’ work 

towards net zero.  

 

5. Ms Dawkins asked what technology had been used to collect emissions data. 

Mrs Wissink agreed to provide clarification following the meeting. 

RESOLVED that the changes to carbon emission measuring be noted. 

Page 27 Agenda Item 14



 

4 

 
22. Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy - Progress Update  
(Item 8) 
 
Christine Wissink (Interim Head of Sustainable Business and Communities) 
was in attendance for this item. 

 
1. Miss Carey provided an update on the progress of the Energy and Low 

Emissions Strategy and reminded the committee of their input into the 

strategy. She confirmed that the strategy was a joint plan with Medway 

Council and Kent’s districts, and noted that climate change had been a 

standing item on the agenda of Kent Leaders. 

 

2. Mrs Wissink gave a further overview of the strategy timeline, which included 

the adoption of the strategy, governance arrangements and 3-year 

implementation strategy. She confirmed that 2 districts had decided to support 

but not endorse the strategy. Members were also reminded that KCC was a 

leading member of Low Carbon Across the South and East (LoCASE). 

 

3. Mrs Wissink shared examples of initial local policy successes, which included 

Canterbury City Council adopting a low carbon vehicle requirement for their 

taxi licenses. She informed members that a full assessment would be 

available in March 2022. 

 

4. In relation to the smart connectivity and mobility modal shift programme 

outlined as part of priority 6 (Transport, travel and digital connectivity), Mr 

Baldock asked if buses could be addressed in the March 2022 assessment. 

Mr Wissink confirmed that buses and other forms of active travel would be 

addressed.  

 

5. Following a question from Mr Lewis on electrical vehicle charging points 

related to priority 6, Mrs Wissink said that plans had been put in place to 

contract 600 further public charging points. Mr Jones added that 

www.kent.gov.uk linked to www.zap-map.com, which provided details of public 

and commercial charging points across the country.  

 

6. Mr Watkins asked if construction supply chain emissions could be included in 

the strategy. Mrs Wissink confirmed that KCC led on the South East Local 

Enterprise Partnership (SELEP) policy for clean growth. 

 

7. Concerning priority 10 (communications), Mr Love commented that further 

engagement with partners would be required to meet net zero in Kent by 2050. 

Mrs Wissink noted that a sub-committee of district and county council officers 

met to plan coordinated campaigns and engagement, this included 

engagement with water companies on lowering water usage. 

 

8. Regarding priority 5 (Building retrofit programme), Ms Dawkins asked if 

funding would be used to train up local engineers and fitters. Mrs Wissink 

Page 28Agenda Item 14

http://www.kent.gov.uk/
http://www.zap-map.com/


 

5 

confirmed that whilst the funding only covered capital works, priority 9 

(supporting low carbon business) would support Kent’s skills base. 

RESOLVED that the progress of the Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions 
Strategy be noted. 
 
23. Heritage Conservation Strategy  
(Item 9) 
 
Mr Holden took the chair, and thanked Mr Love for standing in as chairman. 
. 
Tom Marchant (Head of Strategic Planning and Policy) was in attendance for this 
item. 
 

1. Mr Marchant provided a detailed verbal overview of the strategy in its final 

draft form. He verified the scope of the strategy, which included historic 

advice, assets, understanding and financial sustainability. He recognised the 

involvement of the heritage member working group, which last met in August 

2021. In relation to future process, he confirmed that a public consultation 

would take place in late 2021, with the strategy returning to the committee in 

March 2022.  

 

2. Mr Marchant agreed to circulate the public consultation dates to the committee 

at the appropriate time.  

RESOLVED to endorse the draft content of the Heritage Conservation Strategy for 
public consultation. 
 
24. 21/00072 - Highway Rural Swathe Contract  
(Item 10) 
 
Andrew Loosemore (Head of Highways Asset Management) and Robin Hadley (Soft 
Landscape Asset Manager) were in attendance for this item. 
 

1. Mr Brazier introduced the proposed decision, confirmed that the proposed 

contract term was 5 years with the option to extend for a further 3 years and 

noted his preference for three lots, as reflected in the decision report. He 

recognised that there was significant public interest in in swathe cutting and 

verges, the link to biodiversity and Plan Bee was recognised.  

 

2. Mr Hadley provided further detail on the proposed contracted lots. He outlined 

the areas to be covered by each lot: lot 1, Dartford, Gravesham, Sevenoaks, 

Tonbridge and Malling, and Tunbridge Wells; lot 2, Maidstone and Ashford; 

and lot 3, Swale, Canterbury, Thanet, and Dover. He noted that Folkestone 

and Hythe District Council cut rural swathes in their district under contract with 

KCC. He confirmed that the proposed contracts met the minimum statutory 

requirement and recognised the cost implications of other provisions. 

 

3. Following multiple member questions, Mr Hadley agreed to share the 

approximate cost of a double cut contract option with members, following the 

meeting. 

Page 29 Agenda Item 14



 

6 

 

4. Mr Hadley confirmed, following a question from Mr Baldock, that rural swathe 

cutting schedules were shared with the relevant officers at district councils. 

 

5. In response to a comment from Mr Collor, Mr Hadley reassured the committee 

that highway safety remained the main priority for rural swathe management.  

 

6. Following a question from Mr Lewis, Mr Hadley agreed to provide members, at 

their request, with maps of the swathe cuttings areas in their division.  

 

7. The chairman asked whether there had been any coordination between litter 

picking and rural swathe cutting. Mr Brazier gave reassurance that there had 

been extensive collaboration with district councils, given their responsibilities 

for waste removal.  

RESOLVED to endorse the proposed decision of the Cabinet Member for Highways 
and Transport to provide the Corporate Director for Growth, Environment and 
Transport with delegated authority to procure and enter into appropriate contractual 
arrangements for the provision of Rural Swathe, Visibility and Hedge Maintenance 
including any potential extension periods in accordance with the expectations set out 
in the report as shown in the Proposed Record of Decision. 
 
25. 21/00071 - Highway Emergency Tree Works Contract  
(Item 11) 
 
Andrew Loosemore (Head of Highways Asset Management) and Robin Hadley (Soft 
Landscape Asset Manager) were in attendance for this item. 
 

1. Mr Brazier introduced the proposed decision and gave an overview of its 

purpose and scope. He highlighted Kent’s highly wooded topography as well 

as the need to keep its roads safe and accessible. He confirmed that the 

proposed decision sought a two-lot (east and west) approach to contracting 

emergency tree works. Mr Loosemore added that the contract formed a 

business-as-usual provision and gave KCC 24/7 access to emergency tree 

surgeons, the success of the previous approach and contracts was noted. Mr 

Hadley informed members that the use of contracted emergency tree 

surgeons had increased in recent years, due to an increase in extreme 

weather events. 

 

2. Mr Baldock asked what consideration had been given to geography when 

establishing east and west lots as the preferred arrangement. Mr Hadley 

stated that the preferred option represented the most appropriated division, 

based on the demand in each district and geographic grouping, he noted 

further that demands and challenges differed from district to district. Mr Hadley 

confirmed that split analysis had been carried out.  

 

3. Following a question from Mr Collor, Mr Hadley confirmed that clearance of 

sign obstructing overgrowth was under the rural swathe contract rather than 

emergency work.  

 

Page 30Agenda Item 14



 

7 

4. Mr Hadley clarified the process for emergency tree works, which first involved 

a KCC steward attending the reported site, followed by an emergency tree 

surgeon within 2 hours. He noted that trees which were not considered an 

imminent danger were programmed separately.  

 

5. Mr Lewis proposed, and Mr Baldock seconded a motion that: “That the 

Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee recommend that the 

Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport consider Option 1 (to split 

the contract into three lots (West, Mid and East)), as outlined in the 

decision report.” 

 

6. Members voted on the motion. The motion was lost. 

 

7. Mr Lewis, Ms Dawkins and Mr Baldock abstained on the motion to endorse the 

proposed Cabinet Member decision. 

RESOLVED to endorse the proposed decision of the Cabinet Member for Highways 
and Transport to provide the Corporate Director for Growth, Environment and 
Transport with delegated authority to procure and enter into appropriate contractual 
arrangements for the provision of Emergency Tree Works, including any potential 
extension periods in accordance with the expectations set out in the report as shown 
in the Proposed Record of Decision. 
 
26. Winter Service Policy  
(Item 12) 
 
Andrew Loosemore (Head of Highways Asset Management) and Carol Valentine 
(Highways Project Manager) were in attendance for this item. 

 
1. Mr Loosemore gave an operational update, confirming that: 2021/22 gritting 

routes had been planned, taking into account winter microclimates; the brine 

pilot had produced marginal improvements; KCC’s 3,000 salt bins had been 

checked and restocking planned, where required; and that contracts with local 

farmers had been renewed to facilitate rural snow clearance. The national 

HGV driver shortage was acknowledged, and it was confirmed that only 2 of 

50 routes were affected, existing drivers were assigned to cover these routes. 

Mr Loosemore reassured members that he had received regular updates from 

the service provider, Amey. 

RESOLVED to endorse the proposed decision of the Cabinet Member for Highways 
and Transport to agree changes to the Winter Service Policy for 2021/22 as set out in 
paragraph 8.1 of the report. 
 
27. Local Transport Plan 5 - Early review  
(Item 13) 
 
Joseph Ratcliffe (Transport Strategy Manager) was in attendance for this item. 
 

1. Mr Brazier introduced the item by setting out KCC’s relevant responsibilities in 

relation to local transport planning, as required by the Transport Act 2000. He 

reminded members that the existing Local Transport Plan 4: Delivering Growth 

Page 31 Agenda Item 14



 

8 

without Gridlock originally planned up to 2031. Given significant 

developments, including Brexit and the future Lower Thames Crossing, he 

recognised that transport patterns needed to be re-evaluated. He confirmed 

that a member task and finish group, chaired by Mr Watkins, would be 

established to consider the issue and make recommendations, and invited 

members of the committee to participate. 

 

2. Mr Ratcliffe gave further details on the timescale and purpose of the review, 

which served to make members aware of developments related to the Plan. 

He informed members that the decision to approve Local Transport Plans 

rested with County Council rather than a Cabinet Member. Reassurance was 

given that progress would be reported to the committee. He confirmed that 

there would be a public consultation on the Plan at the appropriate point.  

 

3. Mr Collor asked whether the volume of traffic on the A2-M2 corridor had 

increased against level on the A20-M20. Mr Ratcliffe confirmed that a new 

transport model was able to provide analysis of traffic volumes. Mr Jones 

added that the traffic model was utilised by the Kent Resilience Forum and 

had been used to support Operation Fennel over summer. 

RESOLVED to note the plan to initiate an early review of the existing Local Transport 
Plan 4 (LTP4): Delivering Growth without Gridlock (2016-31) that was adopted by the 
County Council in July 2017 and start the process of preparing a new LTP5. 
 
28. 21/00075 - Independent Cost Consultancy Services  
(Item 14) 
 
Tim Read (Head of Transportation) and Victoria Soames (Major Capital Project 
Manager) were in attendance for this item. 
 

1. Mrs Soames provided a technical verbal overview of the proposed decision. 

She advised that the independent cost consultancy services would be 

primarily used on Highways and Transport capital projects, though it would 

also be available to other Growth, Environment and Transport projects. She 

highlighted the proposal to contract a single supplier.  

 

2. Following a question from Mr Lewis, Mrs Soames confirmed that the previous 

contract had cost £900k and that the proposed contract had increased costs 

which reflected KCC’s expanded capital programme.  

RESOLVED to endorse the proposed decision of the Cabinet Member for Highways 
and Transport to give approval to: 

a) Procure a single supplier agreement to allow independent cost consultancy 
services to be made available to teams within Growth, Environment and 
Transport. 
b) Provide the Director of Transportation with the delegated authority to enter 
into the appropriate contractual arrangements for the provisions of 
Independent Cost Consultancy Services, including future extensions. 

 

Page 32Agenda Item 14



 

9 

29. 21/00066 - Kent Active Travel scheme - Cinque Ports Phase 5 - A259 
Palmarsh to Dymchurch  
(Item 15) 
 
Nikola Floodgate (Schemes Planning and Delivery Manager) was in attendance for 
this item. 
 

1. Mr Brazier gave a verbal overview of the proposed decision. He noted the 

geographic scope of the scheme and reminded members that it formed part of 

a wider project.  

 

2. Mrs Floodgate confirmed that the scheme would be funded by tranche 2 of the 

Department for Transport’s Active Travel Fund. In relation to public 

consultation, she verified that 80% of consultees had indicated their support 

for the scheme. She noted that construction was planned to begin in late 

October. 

 

3. Mr Collor asked whether future consideration could be given to a larger 

Cinque Ports active travel scheme that linked Dover and Sandwich to the 

established route. Mrs Floodgate recognised the need for a wider strategic 

overview between towns and assured the committee that the Cycling Planning 

Team within Transport would be informed of the suggestion. 

RESOLVED to endorse the proposed decision of the Cabinet Member for Highways 
and Transport to proceed to construction for phases 5A and 5B pending satisfactory 
land agreements as shown at Appendix C of the decision report. 
 
30. Performance Dashboard  
(Item 16) 
 
Rachel Kennard (Chief Analyst) and David Beaver (Head of Waste and Business 
Services) were in attendance for this item. 
 

1. Ms Kennard gave a verbal summary of the performance dashboard for the first 

quarter of the 2021/22 financial year. She confirmed that of the 19 key 

performance indicators within the remit of environment and transport, 14 had 

been RAG rated green, 5 amber and 0 red. She acknowledged that this 

reflected good overall performance.  

 

2. Following a question from Mr Lewis in relation to HT13 (Streetwork permits 

issued), Mr Jones confirmed that permits had remained at a consistent level 

and that the work of utility companies was judged against their permit.  He 

added that the impact of road closures would be considered as part of the new 

traffic model. 

 

3. In reference to HT08 (Emergency incidents attended to within 2 hours), Mr 

Bond asked what consequences contractors faced for not meeting service 

requirements. Mr Jones reassured members that contractors had been held to 

account on their delivery, though he recognised that weather events and 

pandemic worker shortages had caused some delays.  

 

Page 33 Agenda Item 14



 

10 

4. Ms Dawkins asked for an explanation of WM08 (Overall score for mystery 

shopper assessment of Household Waste Recycling Centres). Mr Beaver 

confirmed that 60 mystery shoppers were contracted to visit Household Waste 

Recycling Centres each month and that the site contractors were penalised if 

they did not meet expectations.  

RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 
31. Work Programme  
(Item 17) 
 
RESOLVED that the Work Programme for 2021/22 be noted. 

Page 34Agenda Item 14



1 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT CABINET COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee held in 
the Council Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Wednesday, 3 
November 2021. 
 
PRESENT: Mr S Holden (Chairman), Mr R C Love, OBE (Vice-Chairman), Mr Baker, 
Mr C Beart, Mr I S Chittenden, Mr N J Collor, Mr D Crow-Brown, Ms M Dawkins, 
Mr M Dendor, Mr M A J Hood, Mrs S Hudson, Mr B H Lewis, Mr D Watkins, 
Mr A Weatherhead and Mr H Rayner 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mr D L Brazier (Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport) and 
Miss S J Carey (Cabinet Member for Environment) 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr S Jones (Corporate Director for Growth, Environment and 
Transport), Mrs S Holt-Castle (Director of Growth and Communities), Mr P Lightowler 
(Interim Director of Transportation) and Mr M Dentten (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
32. Declarations of Interest by Members in items on the Agenda  
(Item 3) 
 
No declarations were made.  
 
33. Minutes of the meeting held on 8 September 2021  
(Item 4) 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 8 September 2021 were an 
accurate record and that they be signed by the Chairman. 
 
34. Verbal Updates by Cabinet Members and Corporate Director  
(Item 5) 
 

1. Mr Brazier gave a verbal update. He confirmed that a successful bid had been 
made to the Department for Transport’s Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas 
(ZEBRA) scheme. He informed members that on 20 October he chaired a 
meeting of the Kent Rail Summit, which received updates on South Eastern 
and Network Rail station improvements, and had recently visited the 
Sevington inland border facility with Lord Agnew from the Cabinet Office and 
representatives from Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs, Border Force, the 
Department for Transport and Department for Environment, Food and Rural 
Affairs. Regarding senior staff changes, he confirmed that Phil Lightowler had 
been appointed as interim Director of Transport.  

 
2. Miss Carey gave a verbal update. The committee were directed to the 

quarterly environment and waste member briefing which had been circulated 
in advance of the meeting. Miss Carey informed members that the Kent 
Heritage Coast, part of the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, 

Page 35 Agenda Item 14



 

2 

had received international recognition, featuring in Lonely Planet’s ‘Best in 
Travel 2022’. She noted that it was the only UK destination included and was 
selected for its unique experiences and ongoing commitment to sustainable 
tourism practices. Miss Carey mentioned the Kent Environment Strategy 
launch event, which had been well attended by business and local government 
representatives from across Kent, thanks were given to Mr Holden for chairing 
the event. Members were reminded that the Kent Heritage Strategy’s public 
consultation remained open until 13 December. 

 
RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted. 
 
35. Decisions taken between Cabinet Committee meetings  
(Item 6) 
 

1. Mr Brazier explained the reason for taking the 21/00087: Bus Service 
Improvement Plan decision on 21 October. He reminded members of the 
Department for Transport’s National Bus Strategy, “Bus Back Better”, which 
was published in March 2021 and allowed KCC, as a Local Transport 
Authority to create an Enhanced Partnership with local bus operators, in order 
to maintain access to current and future funding opportunities. He confirmed 
that the initial decision to create an Enhanced Partnership was taken in July 
2021. He stated that the deadline set by the Department for Transport to 
create an Improvement Plan was 31 October 2021, as a result it was not 
possible to take the decision after the cabinet committee meeting. 

 
RESOLVED that the decision be noted. 
 
36. Bus Feedback Portal  
(Item 7) 
 
Steve Pay (Public Transport Planning and Operations Manager) was in attendance 
for this item. 
 

1. Mr Brazier introduced the report and summarised the history of the Bus 
Feedback Portal which was introduced in January 2019 and was last 
discussed by the committee in December 2019. He recognised that whilst 
there had been subdued Portal activity since the onset of the pandemic and 
resulting reduction in bus use, that it remained a useful tool for receiving public 
feedback.  

 
2. Mr Pay gave a verbal overview of recent trends and the Portal’s future role 

within the Enhanced Bus Partnership. He clarified that it was designed to 
avoid duplicating corporate complaints and instead collected quantifiable 
public feedback to aid analysis of service provision and operator performance. 
He informed members that most complaints related to service reliability and 
capacity.   

 
3. Ms Dawkins encouraged the continued use of the Portal, recommended 

innovative advertising methods including QR codes and asked whether 
feedback was shared with operators. Mr Lightowler confirmed that weekly 
meetings had taken place with operators throughout the pandemic and that 
feedback from the Portal was shared. Concerning bus advertising, he noted 

Page 36Agenda Item 14



 

3 

that it was agreed during the pandemic that promotional material be replaced 
with public health information. 

 
4. The chairman asked whether there were any concerns on the validity of the 

public feedback, given the small sample size. Mr Pay acknowledged that the 
sample size was a challenge, though added that the Portal was often the 
second port of call, after a direct complaint to the operator. In relation to 
reliability complaints, Mr Pay confirmed that Public Transport had worked with 
operators to adjust timetables to increase reliability, where possible.  

 
RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 
37. Traffic Management Act. Part 6 - Update  
(Item 8) 
 
Tim Read (Head of Transportation) and Neil Edwards (Traffic Manager) were in 
attendance for this item. 
 

1. Mr Brazier introduced the report, confirmed that the purpose of Part 6 powers 
under the Traffic Management Act 2004 were to allow Councils outside of 
London to enforce moving traffic offences, noted that KCC had to apply for the 
powers and set out the requirements. 

 
2. Mr Edwards gave an update on the progress made in applying for the powers. 

He confirmed that KCC had submitted a statement of intent to the Department 
for Transport and that following approval, the Council would be required to 
undertake a 6 week public consultation on how the powers would be used. He 
added that a letter of endorsement had been received from Kent Police and 
that should the Council receive the powers, it would not impact Kent Police’s 
enforcement. Concerning irregularities, Mr Edwards noted that environmental 
weight limits could be enforced, whilst structural weight limits could not. He 
informed members that a meeting had been arranged for 4 November with 
Cardiff Council, the only non-London authority with the powers. The fine 
issuable under the powers was confirmed at £70, reduced to £35 if paid within 
14 days. In relation to the timeframe, he recognised that whilst the secondary 
legislation linked to the powers had been scheduled for early 2022, this was 
dependent on the parliamentary timetable. 

 
3. Members commended the powers and Mr Edwards’ work on the issue. 

 
4. Mr Rayner stated that the powers would reduce the impact of HGVs on rural 

communities and infrastructure.  
 

5. The chairman recognised the importance of the powers in improving residents’ 
quality of life and its contribution towards achieving the objectives of the ‘get 
lorries out of lives’ campaign.  

 
6. Mr Love asked that the Cabinet Member monitor the use of the powers, if 

granted, in order to protect against an unnecessary increase in highway 
cameras. 

 

Page 37 Agenda Item 14



 

4 

7. Ms Dawkins asked for further information on camera placement and the 
technology that would be used for enforcement purposes. Mr Edwards 
confirmed that the cameras used would be in accordance with the government 
approved specifications.  

 
8. Following a question from Mr Watkins, Mr Edwards confirmed that the Part 6 

powers did not extent to speeding or vehicle width restrictions.   
 

9. Mr Lewis asked for an indication of the overall cost to the Council. Mr Edwards 
reassured members that revenue linked to the use of the powers would be 
retained by the Council and recognised that there would be initial costs that 
would need to be budgeted.  

 
10. Mr Hood asked whether the cost of enforcement would be fully covered by fine 

revenue and if parking on pavements could be enforced. Mr Edwards 
explained that he expected to receive a better indication of volume and trends 
following the meeting with Cardiff Council. Regarding pavement parking he 
confirmed that it was not a formal offence.  

 
RESOLVED that the work undertaken to date by the officers and the Leader’s 
intention to submit an application to the Department for Transport that will grant KCC 
via a Designation Order the ability to enforce Traffic Contraventions of the Traffic 
Management Act 2004 be noted. 
 
38. Waste Management Covid Recovery - Update  
(Item 9) 
 
David Beaver (Head of Waste and Business Services) was in attendance for this 
item. 
 

1. Miss Carey gave a verbal update on waste management developments 
throughout the pandemic. Members were reminded of the county and districts’ 
respective waste responsibilities. She confirmed that the national HGV driver 
shortage had impacted district waste collection, with 4 suspending garden 
waste collection. Strong county-district collaboration on waste during the 
pandemic, which was coordinated through the Kent Resource Partnership, 
was highlighted. 

 
2. Mr Beaver provided an overview of key waste management trends and 

volumes. He confirmed that as of September 2021 the volume of waste 
managed was 12% lower than the pre-pandemic average. He noted that 
changes had been made to accommodate the changing work patterns of 
district waste collection services, which had been impacted by the national 
shortage of HGV drivers. Concerning Household Waste Recycling Centre use, 
Mr Beaver informed members that in October 2021 145,000 of 280,000 slots 
were used. 

 
3. Mr Love asked that the removal of the booking system be considered and 

noted that some members of the public had been discouraged from using the 
sites as a result of the system’s introduction. 

 

Page 38Agenda Item 14



 

5 

4. Mr Crow-Brown asked whether an allowance for larger trailers could be made. 
Miss Carey agreed to consider an allowance, in the form of specialist large 
trailer slots, subject to sufficient demand and site accessibility. 

 
5. Mr Lewis suggested that future decisions on Household Waste Recycling 

Centre booking be made on a site by site basis. 
 

6. Mr Rayner asked whether Kent residents were able to use Household Waste 
Recycling Centres in Medway. Mr Beaver confirmed that residents from both 
areas were able to use each other’s Centres and that Kent boasted some of 
the best accessibility in the country, in terms of opening hours. 

 
7. Following a question from Mr Weatherhead, Mr Beaver confirmed that all 

district councils in Kent, except Sevenoaks, charged for curbside garden 
waste collection. 

 
8. Mr Baker commended the performance of Household Waste Recycling 

Centres and the booking system. He emphasised the need to fully understand 
use patterns and booking culture. The correlation between the ease of waste 
disposal and volume was noted.  

 
9. Members noted that the booking system had improved traffic around 

Household Waste Recycling Centres and agreed to wait for the full evaluation 
of public consultation responses before discussing the matter further.  

 
10. Mr Love moved and Mr Rayner seconded an amendment to add, “and ask 

that the Cabinet Member for Environment give due consideration to the 
issues raised during the debate.” 

 
11. Members voted on the amendment. The vote was won by majority vote.  

 
RESOLVED that the committee note the report and ask that the Cabinet Member for 
Environment give due consideration to the issues raised during the debate. 
 
39. Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure in Kent - Update  
(Item 10) 
 
Tim Middleton (Transport Innovations Programme Manager) was in attendance for 
this item. 
 

1. Mr Middleton summarised electric vehicle trends, which included a significant 
growth in ownership and public support for green infrastructure. Concerning 
future infrastructure, he noted that alongside the volume of charging points, 
positioning and charging speed were vital for supporting greater take-up. He 
confirmed that government had not yet set quotas for councils and that 
modelling had been untaken to judge future infrastructure requirements. In 
terms of delivery, he recognised that the private sector would take the greater 
role in expanding electric vehicle charging infrastructure in Kent. The 
committee were informed that 600 new electric vehicle charging points would 
be installed by KCC. 

 

Page 39 Agenda Item 14



 

6 

2. Mr Love commented that regular electric vehicle charging point servicing was 
important for maintaining capacity. He asked whether a vehicle charging 
infrastructure portal would be considered by the Cabinet Member. Mr Brazier 
welcomed Mr Love’s suggestion and confirmed that it would be looked into in 
due course. 

 
3. Mr Hood encouraged collaboration between KCC and district councils on 

electric vehicle infrastructure wherever possible. He noted that whilst public 
carparks were accessible areas for charging, they were not evenly distributed 
throughout the county.  

 
4. Ms Dawkins asked that pavement gullies be investigated to allow for an 

expansion of on street charging. Mr Middleton recognised the challenge of on 
street charging and informed the committee that Oxford Council was running a 
pilot on the matter, which KCC monitored. 

 
RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 
40. Plan Tree - Update  
(Item 11) 
 
Elizabeth Milne (Natural Environment & Coast Manager) was in attendance for this 
item. 
 

1. Miss Carey gave an update on the progress of Plan Tree, KCC’s Tree 
Establishment Strategy 2021-2031, which committed to plant 1.5m new trees 
in Kent. She emphasised the importance of member involvement, members 
would be given the opportunity to participate by establishing trees within their 
own divisions across the four-year term, based on a target of 350 trees per 
division. 

 
2. Ms Milne set out the strategy’s key principles, targets, overall coverage and 

environmental benefits. She noted that the strategy extended beyond carbon 
capture and acknowledged the health, social and economic benefits of tree 
planting. Improved tree management and natural regeneration were 
highlighted, as was a commitment to a ‘right tree, right place’ approach to 
planting. Ms Milne confirmed that the strategy would go out to public 
consultation following the committee’s endorsement.  

 
3. Mr Chittenden asked whether tree replacement, including street trees, would 

be included in the member tree planting scheme. Miss Carey confirmed that 
tree replacement would be permitted wherever possible. 

 
4. Mr Collor supported the ‘right tree, right place’ approach to planting and noted 

that if handled incorrectly leaves could negatively impact drains and other 
highway infrastructure.  

 
RESOLVED that the committee endorse the draft Plan Tree, Kent County Council’s 
Tree Establishment Strategy 2021-2031, for public consultation. 
 
41. Adaptation Programme  
(Item 12) 

Page 40Agenda Item 14



 

7 

 
Tom Henderson was in attendance for this item. 
 

1. Miss Carey introduced the report which provided an overview of key 
developments related to the Climate Change Adaptation Programme for Kent 
and Medway. She reminded the committee that the Kent and Medway Climate 
Change Risk and Impact Assessment results were discussed at its March 
2021 meeting with the main findings that climate change was likely to result in 
warm, wet winters and hot, dry summers, with more frequent extreme weather 
events. She confirmed that the development of a localised adaption plan had 
involved extensive engagement with local partners across key sectors. 

 
2. Mr Henderson detailed the impact of existing climate change on Kent and 

Medway, which noted that over recent years extreme weather events had 
increased in frequency and had direct negative financial implications. In 
relation to the progress required to achieve carbon net zero in Kent by 2050, 
he explained the key roles of the local government, agriculture and utility 
sectors. Examples of the work already carried out by Kent businesses to 
reduce their carbon footprint were shared. The need to protect against the 
impact of rising seas levels and coastal flooding was stressed. 

 
3. Miss Carey emphasised the need for the adaptation programme to become 

embedded in the actions of Council and county as a whole, in order to meet 
the target of carbon net zero by 2050.  

 
4. Mr Chittenden asked if there had been any consideration towards including 

environmental impact assessments as part of all executive key decisions, in a 
similar format to pre-existing Equality Impact Assessments. Mrs Holt-Castle 
confirmed that initial investigations had been undertaken. 

 
5. Mr Hood highlighted the importance of wastewater management and up-to-

date surface water mapping for monitoring the impact of climate change. Miss 
Carey reminded members of the Kent Flood Risk Management Committee’s 
functions, which included scrutinising flood and coastal erosion risk 
management functions exercised by the Environment Agency and KCC. 

 
6. Ms Dawkins stressed the importance of investing in education and skills to 

create the required capacity for making environmental improvements. Miss 
Carey reassured members that a report on new green job opportunities would 
go to the appropriate Cabinet Committee in due course.  

 
RESOLVED that the ongoing development of the Climate Change Adaptation 
Programme for Kent and Medway be noted. 
 
42. 21/00089 Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 - 5 year review 
public consultation  
(Item 13) 
 
Sharon Thompson (Head of Planning Applications Group) was in attendance for this 
item.  
 

Page 41 Agenda Item 14



 

8 

1. Miss Carey introduced the proposed decision. She thanked members for their 
involvement in the minerals and waste working group and confirmed that the 
plan protected access to minerals and waste in the county.  

 
2. Mrs Thompson reminded members of the previous decision taken to review 

the 2016 adopted Plan (21/00073 - Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-
30, 5 Year Review), which was endorsed by the committee in September. The 
changes to the plan, outlined in the decision report, were highlighted and Mrs 
Thompson confirmed that national planning and environmental policy changes 
had necessitated the proposed alterations. She informed members that the 
public consultation would take place over 6 weeks, with responses reviewed at 
its conclusion, in line with the timeline set out in 1.8 of the report.  

 
3. Mr Rayner sought assurance that mineral sites in Kent would not be sterilised 

and that KCC would continue to support the policies outlined in the Plan, if 
pressured by operators to deviate. Mrs Thompson gave assurance that 
policies DM7 (Safeguarding Mineral Resources) and DM8 (Safeguarding 
Minerals Management, transportation Production & Waste Management 
Facilities) would be upheld.  

 
RESOLVED to endorse the proposed decision of the Cabinet Member responsible for 
the Minerals and Waste Local Plan to: 
 

1. Approve the proposed updates to the Vision, Strategic Objectives, Policies 
(and supporting text) and Chapters 1 and 2 of the Kent Minerals and Waste 
Local Plan 2013-30 as set out in Appendix 1; 

 
2. Delegate to the Corporate Director for Growth, Environment and Transport the 

authority to approve draft updates to the Minerals Safeguarding Areas in the 
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Environment prior to their publication for consultation; 

 
3. Agree to publish the proposed updates to the Kent Minerals and Waste Local 

Plan, and associated supporting evidence, for a minimum six week period of 
public consultation in line with Regulation 18 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012; 

 
4. Agree the revised Local Plan Timetable, as shown in paragraph 1.8, to be set 

out in an update to the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Development Scheme; 
and 

 
5. Delegate to the Corporate Director for Growth, Environment and Transport the 

authority to approve any non-material changes to the proposed updates of the 
Vision, Strategic Objectives, Policies (and supporting text) and Chapters 1 and 
2 in the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Environment prior to their publication for consultation. 

 
43. Southern Water - Presentation  
(Item 14) 
 
The chairman informed the committee that Southern Water had been invited to 
present at its January meeting. 

Page 42Agenda Item 14



 

9 

 
44. Performance Dashboard  
(Item 15) 
 
Rachel Kennard (Chief Analyst) was in attendance for this item. 
 
RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 
45. Work Programme  
(Item 16) 
 
RESOLVED that the Work Programme for 2021/22 be noted. 

Page 43 Agenda Item 14



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 44


	Agenda
	at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

	3 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Dartford Joint Transportation Board held on 7 December 2021.
	Minutes

	7 Matters Arising
	Work plan updated for March meeting V2

	11 Prioritising the Investigation of Reported Parking Issues and Parking Management Schemes - Pilot Study,  Bow Arrow Lane.
	JTB Appendix A- Bow Arrow Lane LA update (003)

	12 Minor Traffic Regulation Orders Progressed  by Officers under Delegated Authority
	14 KCC - Environment, Highways and Waste
	Printed minutes 08092021 1000 Environment Transport Cabinet Committee (1)
	Printed minutes 03112021 1000 Environment Transport Cabinet Committee


